#### MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

#### Between

## THE MASCONOMET REGIONAL SCHOOL DISTRICT

#### And

## THE MASCONOMET ASSOCIATION OF PROFESSIONAL SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS

This Agreement made and entered into June 26, 2019, by and between the Masconomet Regional School District and the Massachusetts Association of Professional School Administrators. The parties agree to extend the current Agreement to June 30, 2022 with the following changes:

- 1. The duration of the contract will be three year: July 1, 2019 through June 30, 2022.
- 2. Article IV, Section C Work Period Requirements

(page 5)

The Administrator's work year will consist of 194 workdays; however, the work year of the High School Assistant Principals and Athletic Director will consist of 204 workdays. For all administrators, three workdays each year are to be used for curriculum related projects and/or unexpected administrative requirements that may occur during traditional vacation periods. Use of these days will be done in consultation with the Superintendent. If one or more of these three is scheduled by the superintendent, the superintendent shall give administrators 120 calendar days' notice prior to the assignment of each of these three days. If by March 1st of the current year fewer than 3 of these days are designated by the superintendent, the administrator shall propose to the superintendent the three work days/dates and their purpose.

3. Article IX - Benefits, Section C - Notification of Resignation or Retirement, Items 2 -5. (page 14)

Items 2 through 5 of this section that refer to the End-of-Career Bonus will only be applicable to those employed by this unit as of June 30, 2019 or any teacher who was employed as a teacher prior to September 1, 2005 and is promoted to this unit.

4. Article IX - Benefits, Add item 6. Tax Sheltered Annuity

(page 14)

"Effective July 1, 2019, the Committee will match up to \$600 of an individual employee's contribution to a 403(b) plan annually. The employer contribution match will be paid in two (2) payments one in November and one in May. The School Committee will not be responsible for any administrative costs charged by a third party for administering this benefit."

Appendix A – Salary Scale

(page 18)

- a. A 2.5% Cost-of-Living Adjustment (COLA) will be applied to salary scale A and B for FY20, FY21, and FY22.
- b. Longevity scale, band two replace "10 19 \$2,268" with "11 19 \$2,268"

For the Masconomet School Committee:	
Assonomet School Committee	Masconomet School Committee
For the Union:	
Association President	Association
, Association	, Association

Date: \_

# AGREEMENT

## Between

## THE MASCONOMET REGIONAL SCHOOL DISTRICT

## AND

# $\frac{\text{THE MASCONOMET ASSOCIATION OF PROFESSIONAL}}{\text{SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS}}$

Boxford, Massachusetts

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>Subject</u>		<u>Page</u>
Article I	Agreement	3
	Section A: Parties to the Agreement	3
	Section B: Term of Agreement	3
	Section C: Renewal of Agreement	3
Article II	Dues	3
	Section A: Dues Deduction	3
Article III	Grievances	3
	Section A: Grievance Procedure	3
	Section B: Grievance Resolution	4
Article IV	Duties, Work Periods, and Assignments	4
	Section A: Liability	4
	Section B: Absentee Replacement	4
	Section C: Work Period Requirements	5
	Section D: Assignments	5
Article V	Vacancies	6
	Section A: Permanent Vacancies	6
Article VI	Benefits	6
	Section A: Sick Leave	6
	Section B: Other Leaves	7
	Section C: Sabbatical and Jury Leave	9
	Section D: Reimbursements	10
	Section E: Other Programs	10
Article VII	Salaries and Conferences	11
	Section A: Salaries	11
Article VIII	Salary Policy	11
	Section A: Payments	11
	Section B: Conferences	12
Article IX	Benefits	12
	Section A: Ins., Hospitalization Benefits, & Credit Union	12
	Section B: Payroll Deductions	13
	Section C: Notification of Resignation or Retirement	13
	Section D: Extra Workdays	14
	Section E: Evaluation and Supervision	14
	Section F: Personnel Files and Complaints	14
Article X	Reservations	15
Article XI	Memorandum of Agreement	16
Appendix A	Salary Scale	17

#### <u>ARTICLE I – AGREEMENT</u>

#### SECTION A – PARTIES TO THE AGREEMENT

- 1. This Agreement is made between the Masconomet Regional School District, hereinafter referred to as the "District," and the Masconomet Association of Professional School Administrators, hereinafter referred to as the "Association."
- 2. a. The District recognizes the Association as the exclusive bargaining representative of the administrative personnel, hereinafter referred to as "Administrators."
  - b. The Association will be composed of Assistant Principals, Directors, Department Administrators, and Team Chairs excluding confidential and managerial and all other employees.
  - c. If additional administrative positions are established, the District will meet and confer with the Association to determine whether the positions should properly be included in the unit.
  - d. The District agrees to notify the Association prior to any vote to eliminate an Association unit position due to administrative reorganization, consolidation, or reduction in force, and will meet and confer with the Association over any problem arising from the proposed elimination in conformity with G.L. c. 150E.

#### SECTION B- TERM OF AGREEMENT

1. This Agreement becomes effective July 1, 2019, and will be in effect until midnight of June 30, 2022.

#### SECTION C - RENEWAL OF AGREEMENT

1. Negotiations for an extension or modification of the Agreement will commence on or before February 1, 2018, or on a date mutually agreed upon. It is agreed that the Association, on or before February 1 of any year during the term of this Agreement, may reopen negotiations for salary only. All other sections of the Agreement may not be reopened except by mutual agreement.

#### **ARTICLE II - DUES**

#### **SECTION A - DUES DEDUCTION**

- 1. The Association may secure authorizations for the deduction of Association dues. Upon receipt of the authorizations, the District will request the Treasurer of the Masconomet Regional School District to deduct such dues and transmit same in sum total upon collection accompanied by a listing detailing names and individual amounts deducted to the Association.
- 2. The Association agrees that it will indemnify and save the District harmless from any and all liability, claim, responsibility, damage or suit which may arise out of any action taken by the District in accordance with the terms of this Article or in reliance upon the authorization described herein, in an amount not to exceed the sum received by the Association on account of the deductions made from the earnings of such Administrator.

#### **ARTICLE III - GRIEVANCES**

#### SECTION A - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

1. A grievance is, hereby, defined to mean a complaint by an Administrator or group of Administrators based upon an alleged violation of the specific terms of this Agreement.

- 2. Grievances must be filed within ten (10) days of the day when an Administrator can reasonably be expected to know of the violation. Failure to present a grievance within ten (10) days waives the right to submit the grievance.
- 3. At the option of the aggrieved, grievances pending or which may arise during the summer recess will be held in abeyance until the inception of the subsequent school term.
- 4. Failure at any level of the procedure to communicate the decision within the specified time limitations to the grievant and to the Association will permit the aggrieved to proceed to the next level. Failure to appeal a timely decision to the next level within the specified limitation will be deemed to be an acceptance of the decision so rendered unless the District and the Association have mutually agreed to extend or suspend the time limitation.
- 5. The Administrator may present a grievance without representation by the Association, the disposition, if any, of the grievance will be consistent with the provisions of the Agreement. The Association will be permitted to be heard at each level of the procedure under which the grievance will be considered.

#### **SECTION B - GRIEVANCE RESOLUTION**

- 1. a. Level One: The grievant will initially discuss the problem with the immediate supervisor with the object of resolving the differences informally. Failing resolution, a written grievance may be presented to the Superintendent of Schools specifying the contract provisions allegedly violated.
  - b. Level Two: Within five (5) school days after the receipt of a written grievance, the Superintendent or designee shall meet with the aggrieved and Association in an effort to resolve the matter. The Superintendent will respond to the aggrieved and the Association in writing within the five (5) subsequent school days. Non-acceptance of the position taken by the Superintendent or the failure to receive the response within the five-day limitation will permit the submission of the written.
  - c. Level Three: If the decision of the Superintendent is unacceptable or if no response has been received, the Association may submit the matter to the American Arbitration Association within the ten (10) succeeding school days.
- 2. The Arbitrator will be without power or authority to make any decision either prohibited by law, or to add to, alter, or modify this Agreement.
- 3. The decision of the Arbitrator will be in writing and will set forth findings of fact, reasoning, and conclusions of the issues submitted.
- 4. The cost of the Arbitrator's services will be borne equally by the District and the Association.

# ARTICLE IV -DUTIES, WORK PERIODS, and ASSIGNMENTS

## SECTION A – LIABILITY

1. Administrators required to collect and transmit monies to be used for educational purposes will not be held responsible for the loss of any portion of monies so collected, except in cases of gross negligence.

#### SECTION B- ABSENTEE REPLACEMENT

1. A central office system will be maintained to receive notice of absenteeism of Administrator and to provide the necessary substitute.

#### SECTION C -WORK PERIOD REQUIREMENTS

1. The Administrator's work year will consist of 194 workdays; however, the work year of the High School Assistant Principals and Athletic Director will consist of 204 workdays. For all administrators, three workdays each year are to be used for curriculum related projects and/or unexpected administrative requirements that may occur during traditional vacation periods. Use of these days will be done in consultation with the Superintendent. If one or more of these three is scheduled by the superintendent, the superintendent shall give administrators 120 calendar days' notice prior to the assignment of each of these three days. If by March 1<sup>st</sup> of the current year fewer than 3 of these days are designated by the superintendent, the administrator shall propose to the superintendent the three work days/dates and their purpose.

2. The Administrator's workday will be as follows:

Monday 7:30 a.m. to 4:00 p.m.

Tuesday, Thursday, Friday 7:30 a.m. to 15 minutes beyond the end of the

contractual workday for teachers.

Wednesday 7:30 a.m. to 3:00 p.m., followed by

Advisory Council meeting.

3. Each Administrator will be granted 1/2 hour duty-free daily lunch periods.

4. The formula for determining a Department Administrator's or Director's teaching assignment(s) will be adjusted to provide that, regardless of the size of a given department, the Department Administrator will have at least one period free each semester.

Each Department Administrator or Director will receive a teaching assignment according to the following formula:

No. of Teachers (FTE)*		
<u>Supervised</u>	<b>Teaching Assignment</b>	
1 - 6.5	4	
6.6 - 12.5	3	
12.6 - 18.5	2	
18.6 - 24.5	1	*FTE = Full Time Equivalent
24.6 or greater	0	-

#### SECTION D – ASSIGNMENTS

- 1. Overloads: A Department Administrator may, by mutual agreement, take more than a normal load for an extended period of time. The amount of additional compensation will be determined as follows: If the Department Administrator teaches an overload, daily salary for each additional class will be the per diem rate of the Department Administrator's annual salary divided by five (5).
- 2. Coaches shall be counted as .33 FTE of a teacher in determining the Director of Athletics' teaching schedule.
- 3. Tutors shall be computed at .33 FTE of a teacher in determining a Department Administrator's teaching assignment.
- 4. If, because of Administrative reorganization, reduction in force, illness, or any other reason not related to poor performance, an Administrator is involuntarily reassigned to full time teaching; this person will be assigned to the teaching force in his/her field of certification and experience. Seniority credit projected from the original date of employment by the District will accompany the assignment to teacher status on the teachers' salary schedule at a level, which reflects years of employment, educational attainment and merit status. The Administrator will be entitled to recall to the previously

held administrative position if it is re-established within five (5) years.

5. The Performing Arts Department Chair assignments shall include coordination of the after-school instrumental music instructional program. This assignment will constitute a .2 FTE.

## ARTICLE V – VACANCIES

## **SECTION A – PERMANENT VACANCIES**

- 1. Permanent vacancies within the school system in the Association covered by this Agreement will be posted for a minimum of fifteen (15) days prior to the vacancy being filled except for the months of July and August when permanent vacancy will remain open for a time sufficient to give Association members a reasonable opportunity to apply for the position.
- 2. The qualifications necessary to adequately fulfill the demands of such position will be contained on the posted notice in addition to classification title and salary.
- 3. The District agrees to give consideration to the professional background and qualification when Administrators from within the system apply for another opening in the Association; but it is recognized that the final decision as to the filling of such vacancies is in the discretion of the District, and is not subject to the grievance or arbitration provisions of this Agreement.

#### ARTICLE VI – BENEFITS

## **SECTION A - SICK LEAVE**

- 1. The annual sick leave allowance for all Administrators will be fifteen days each school year commencing as of the first official day of each school year. In cases of merit the Superintendent may allow sick leave days beyond the limits described herein. Unused sick leave days are cumulative from year to year as of the beginning of the school year, to a maximum of the number of days set forth in Article IV, Section C, #1 as the administrative work year for that Employee. Except on reinstatement after a specifically enumerated leave of absence, no sick leave credit for prior employment will be allowed to any Administrator rehired after a termination of service. Administrators whose services are terminated for any reason will not be entitled to compensation in lieu of any sick leave not taken.
- 2. An Administrator whose term of employment with the District begins after the first month of the school year will have his/her sick leave computed on a pro-rate basis, at the rate of one and one-half (1-1/2) days for each month of the school year remaining.
- 3. The term "sick leave" as herein used will mean personal illness of the Administrator, and/or disability of the Administrator caused by accident.
- 4. Each Administrator will receive a written accounting of all his/her accumulated sick leave days no later than the initial paycheck of each school year.
- 5. In addition to personal illness or injury, initial or accumulated sick leave may be utilized for the following purposes, provided, however, such leaves result from individual Administrator responsibility, and said Administrator will, upon request, supply proof of such responsibility.
  - a.) Leaves of up to three school days due to emergency illness or injury in the immediate family requiring an Administrator to make arrangements for necessary medical and/or nursing care. The term "immediate family" will apply to spouse, parent, sister, brother, or child of either the Administrator or his/her spouse, or other member of the immediate household.

- b.) Additional days for emergency illness or injury as stated in paragraph (5a) may be granted by the Superintendent at his/her discretion with as much advance notice as possible.
- c.) Any other reason approved by the Superintendent with as much advance notice of the intended absence being given as is possible.
- 6. Major Disability is defined as an illness or injury resulting in fifteen (15) consecutive days of absence from work, and applies only to tenured Administrators with professional status. In such cases where an Administrator with professional status has exhausted his/her personal accumulated sick leave, the District will authorize an addition to the Administrator's accumulated sick leave of one-half day for each of the first ninety-two (92) days of sick leave accumulated as of the first day of the illness or injury. For every day of sick leave accumulated above ninety-two (92) days as of the first day of the illness or injury, the District will grant an additional one-day's credit, instead of one-half day's credit, for such additional days. The District reserves the right to have an Administrator absent due to Major Disability examined at District cost by a physician mutually agreed upon by the parties to this agreement.

## SECTION B – OTHER LEAVES

- 1. The following leaves are paid days and will not be deducted from initial or accumulated sick leave, and are exclusive of each other. Additional time for the following, or leaves for other reasons, may be approved by the Superintendent with as much advance notice of the intended absence being given as is possible:
  - a.) Administrators will be allowed a total of up to five (5) consecutive calendar days' bereavement leave for each death in the immediate family as defined in Article VI, Section B, # 5a subject to the approval of the Superintendent. Such leave shall not be deducted from accumulated sick leave days, or from personal days. For the purposes of this leave, expansion of the above-defined "immediate family" may be granted at the discretion of the Superintendent.
  - b.) An administrator may be allowed a maximum of three (3) days' absence each school year for personal business or legal obligations which could not be conducted outside of school hours. Written applications for such absence must be made at least twenty-four (24) hours before the taking of such time, except in the case of an emergency, and must be approved by their supervisor. Such approval will not be unreasonably withheld. Any personal days, which are not used, will be added to the accumulated sick leave days of the individual.
  - c.) Administrators will be allowed a leave of absence for recognized religious holidays, at the discretion of the Superintendent.
- 2. The District agrees, at a minimum, to comply with all Federal and State laws regarding leave for military duty.
- 3. Administrators who are absent for reasons other than those cited above, or for their own convenience, but with the prior approval of the Superintendent, will have deducted from their pay for each day of such absence, the amount required to pay for their substitute for each day of such absence.
- 4. Administrators absent for reasons other than those cited above, or for reasons not approved by the Superintendent will have their per diem salary deducted for each day of such unapproved absence.
- 5. a. A leave of absence without pay may be granted, at the discretion of the Superintendent, consistent with the maintenance of proper balance of staffing of the school, to any Administrator for the reasons following:
  - 1.)Approved study
  - 2.) Approved travel
  - 3.)Teaching abroad
  - 4.)Health

- 5.)Service in the Peace Corps
- 6.) Maternity (as set forth in Article VI, Section C, #6)
- 7.) Military or Naval Service (as set forth in Article VI, Section C, #7)
- 8.) Leave of Absence for personal reasons not to exceed one calendar year.
- b. All benefits to which an Administrator on leave of absence, for any of the above reasons, was entitled at the time his/her leave of absence commenced, including unused accumulated sick leave, will be restored to him/her upon his/her return; and he/she will be assigned to the same position which he/she held at the time said leave commenced, if available, or, if not, to the most substantially equivalent position then available.
- c. Reasonable notice of intent by an Administrator to request a leave of absence under this section will be given the District in writing, as early as possible, but in no event, not later than April 1, of the school year preceding the school year for which the leave of absence is to be effective. The written notice will specify the purpose for which the leave is desired, the length of the leave, and if for study or teaching abroad, the areas of training and anticipated teaching assignment.
- 6. a. An Administrator, who desires child-rearing leave, must request and will be granted a leave of absence by the District. This request should be presented to the Superintendent with as much advance notice as possible, but in no case less than 30 days prior to the proposed effective date of such requested leave, and should include an estimated date of return.
  - b. If, in the judgment of the Superintendent, there is concern for the health and welfare of the Administrator in view of the administrative assignment, such Administrator may be requested to provide a certificate from a physician stating the physician's opinion concerning a desire to continue employment through to the effective date of the leave of absence. Without a physician's approval, the Superintendent may request a "hold harmless" statement from the employee.
  - c. An Administrator on child rearing leave and desiring to resume active service with the District must notify the Superintendent in writing by an April 15th date that is no later than two (2) years following the commencement of the leave. The Superintendent may request a report from the Administrator's physician certifying the Administrator's capability to perform the duties of the position to which she is to be reinstated.
  - d. An Administrator serving the District not less than ninety-three (93) days of the school year in which the maternity leave was in effect will be credited with a full school year of employment for record-keeping purposes.
- 7. a. In accordance with the General Laws of Massachusetts, Chapter 708 of the Acts of 1941 as amended by Chapter 580 of the Acts of 1964, such leave extends either, "two (2) years after date of discharge following four (4) years of service, or two (2) years after a discharge date following a period of additional involuntary military or naval service beyond the four (4) year period." Upon written request to the Superintendent within the two (2) years after the termination of such service, the Administrator will be reinstated or reemployed in the same or similar office or position held at the time of enlistment or conscription, provided that if so required by the Superintendent, he/she files the certificate of a registered physician stating that he/she is not disabled or incapacitated for performing the duties of the office or position.
  - b. Upon the immediate return, the salary of the Administrator granted leave under this section will be the same as he/she would have received had the period of his military or naval service been spent in the Masconomet Regional School District.
- 8. Other leaves of absence without pay or increment or extension beyond stated sick leave may be granted in exceptional circumstances at the discretion of the Superintendent. The exercise of this discretion, or refusal to so exercise it, will not become a grievance or be subject to the Grievance Procedure in the

Agreement.

- 9. All requests for extensions or renewals of leaves will be filed with the Superintendent (in writing) a reasonable time before the leave is scheduled to expire. The Superintendent will act within a reasonable time of receipt of the request and will notify the Administrator (in writing) of the decision, together with the reasons for such action.
- 10. The privilege of sabbatical leave may consist of one (1) year or one-half (1/2) year and may be granted to a member of the administrative staff after seven (7) consecutive years of service as an Administrator in the Masconomet Regional School District. On recommendation by the Superintendent, the School Committee may permit members of the administrative staff to take sabbatical leaves for the purpose of self- improvement and benefit to the school. The granting of sabbatical leave will be discretionary with the School Committee and will not be subject to the Grievance Procedure as defined in this Agreement.

## SECTION C - SABBATICAL AND JURY LEAVE

- 1. The purpose of the District's policy on sabbatical leave is three-fold:
  - a.) Recognition of professional excellence.
  - b.) Encouragement of professional growth for all members of the professional staff.
  - c.) Improvement of the Masconomet Regional School District.
- 2. The granting of a sabbatical leave will be predicated upon demonstrable professional growth and promise as evidenced by recommendations of superiors; award of scholarships, fellowships, or grants; participation in a graduate program leading to a higher degree, certificate, or academic concentration.
- 3. In implementing sabbatical leave, the following guidelines will be observed:
  - a.) Sabbatical leaves may be combined with programs of study, research, writing, or travel which are financed by outside non-commercial agencies such as universities or foundations.
  - b.) A member of the professional staff who has been granted a sabbatical leave will serve for an additional seven (7) years before being eligible for consideration for a second sabbatical leave.
  - c.) Preliminary requests for sabbatical leave will be made in writing to the Superintendent before October 1 of the school year proceeding the school year for which the leave is requested.
  - d.) Final application for sabbatical leave will be made on or before February 1 or as agreed upon by the Superintendent and the applicant. The applicant will provide with his application a detailed sabbatical leave plan to include a complete statement of aims and objectives and the procedures whereby these aims and objectives are to be achieved.
  - e.) Prior to the granting of such leave, the applicant will enter into a written agreement with the District that following the expiration of the sabbatical leave period, he/she will return to active service in the Masconomet Regional School District for a period equal to twice the length of such leave, and that, in default of completing such service, he/she will refund to the District an amount equal to such proportion of salary received by him/her while on leave as the amount of service not actually rendered as agreed upon bears to the whole amount of service agreed to be rendered.
  - f.) Members of the professional staff on sabbatical leave will retain those rights of salary, tenure, seniority, and all other rights which would otherwise be theirs if they were actively administrating in the system during the period of said leave.
  - g.) The Superintendent in making recommendations to the School Committee and the School

Committee in considering these recommendations for sabbatical leave, will take account of the number of persons on the professional staff making application, the effect of the absence of these persons upon the school and the relative benefits to the Masconomet Regional School District of the various plans for sabbatical leave which may be granted.

- h.) The District will pay a salary to the applicant during the period of such approved leave, equal to fifty (50) percent of the salary of the Administrator involved. In exceptional cases, the Committee may grant more than this amount.
- i.) Nothing in this section is to be interpreted as guaranteeing a sabbatical leave to any member, or group of members, of the professional staff. The District reserves the right to limit the number of such leaves to be granted in any given school year.
- 4. a. A leave of absence will be granted for Administrators called to Jury Duty. An Administrator granted leave under Jury Leave shall be paid his/her regular compensation for the period of such leave, less the compensation received by him/her for serving on the Jury.
  - b. All requests for such leave must be made in writing to the Superintendent as far in advance as possible, so that appropriate steps can be taken to secure a substitute for such person while on such leave.

## SECTION D - REIMBURSEMENTS

- 1. The District will reimburse up to \$100.00 beyond health insurance coverage for:
  - a.) An annual physical examination of each Administrator age 40 or over; or
  - b.) A biannual physical examination of an Administrator under age 40.
- 2. Tuition Reimbursement: If money is provided in the budget, members of the Masconomet Association of Professional School Administrators will be reimbursed a portion of the cost of the course for all graduate courses in which tuition is paid, based on the following guidelines:
  - Each year, a member of the Masconomet Association of Professional School Administrators must notify the Superintendent of his/her intention to seek reimbursement for a qualifying graduate course no later than May 30<sup>th</sup> for courses being offered between July 1<sup>st</sup> and June 30<sup>th</sup> of the following year.
  - Once a member of the Masconomet Association of Professional School Administrators presents a
    transcript indicating that the approved course was completed with a grade of at least "B", he/she
    will be reimbursed up to \$200 per course for a maximum of two (2) courses per person per year.
    However, no member of the Masconomet Association of Professional School Administrators may
    be reimbursed for a second course in any one year until everyone who has taken a course receives
    reimbursement for one course.
  - Budgeted course reimbursement funds not encumbered by May 30<sup>th</sup> of each year may be redistributed among members of the Masconomet Association of Professional School Administrators who have taken a second approved graduate course, but who have not received reimbursement for it. All documentation for course reimbursement must be received by the Accountant no later than June 30<sup>th</sup>.

#### SECTION E – OTHER PROGRAMS

Members of the Masconomet Association of Professional School Administrators will be offered the right of
first refusal to administer any Community School Programs developed by and for the Masconomet Regional
School District. Administrators of Community School Programs will be compensated beyond their standard
contract and any stipend positions.

#### ARTICLE VII -SALARIES AND CONFERENCES

#### **SECTION A - SALARIES**

- 1. Professional staff members in the Association will be compensated in accordance with the provisions set forth in Appendix A.
- 2. Any administrator who wishes to move columns in accordance with the Administrators' Salary Guide will be required to submit evidence of his/her degree or graduate credit levels prior to December 15 of the year proceeding the school year in which the administrator seeks payment for the level of degree or graduate credit attained.
- 4. All requests for payment based upon degree or graduate credits will be submitted to the Superintendent for review and approval. The Superintendent will retain the right to deny initial approval of submitted degree or graduate credit in order to assure that the submitted credits meet generally accepted standards in the academic community. Approval of such credit by the Superintendent will not be unreasonably withheld.
- 5. Initial placement on the Guide will be at the discretion of the Superintendent.
- 6. In addition to the above, the District may at its discretion award separate stipend contracts to Association members for additional duties and responsibilities. The grant of such contracts, and their terms and conditions, will neither be subject to collective bargaining, nor constitute a precedent or requirement for granting any other individual a stipend contract or terms and conditions different from those provided herein. The awarding of a stipend contract will not affect that person's membership in the Association.
- 7. The parties agree that Department Administrators may fill stipend positions not to exceed 16 points on the stipend chart as listed in the Masconomet Teachers' Association Agreement.
- 8. Any member of the Association who receives an additional stipend will have such monies incorporated into his/her overall contract salary amount--e.g. coaching, band directing, Math Team, Driver Education, Transportation Coordinator, etc. All stipends and/or extra minutes paid to an Administrator are an integral part of the Administrators regular contract and are added to the Administrator's salary to determine total annual salary. COLA increases are not applicable to stipends unless specified.
- 9. Salaries for all Administrators will reflect a work year as outlined in Article IV, Section C, #1 of this Agreement.

## <u>ARTICLE VIII – SALARY POLICY</u>

# **SECTION A - PAYMENTS**

- 1. Salary payments for 194-day employees will be made every other Thursday effective with the school year beginning September 1, resulting in twenty-six (26) payments for the school year extending from September 1 to August 31. Salary payments for 204-day employees will be made every other Thursday starting the first regular pay in July, and extending for twenty-six (26) payments through June.
- 2. The salary of each Administrator will be deemed fully earned as of the close of school in June, notwithstanding the division of the salary into twenty-six (26) equal installments.
- 3. Administrators notifying the Superintendent in writing on or before March 1 will receive their July and August pay checks on the last scheduled working day.

- 4. To the extent that funds are available, Administrators will have the same option provided they notify the Superintendent in writing of their intentions on or before June 1. If funds are not available, payment will be made as soon as possible.
- 5. An Administrator who enters the employ of the District at any time subsequent to the start of the school year will have his/her pay calculated as follows: per diem of the annual salary rate multiplied by the number of days not present will be deducted from the full amount of the annual salary.

## **SECTION B - CONFERENCES**

- 1. The District will pay reasonable expenses including registration fees, meals, transportation, and lodging (when appropriate) incurred by Administrators who attend workshops, seminars, conferences, or other approved professional improvement meetings at the request and with the advance written approval of the Superintendent and their supervisor, provided, however, that such travel and other expenses have been provided for and are expendable in the maintenance and operating budget of the school.
- 2. Attendance of Administrators at national professional conferences will be determined by the Administration only after careful screening of conference programs in order to relate such conference attendance to those that have relevance to Masconomet's educational needs. Approval of such national conference attendance will be made only after careful evaluation of all requests submitted to the Principal and to the Superintendent. Administrators may expect to receive approval for such national conference attendance no more often than every other year.
- 3. Administrators requesting reimbursement from the District under this section will, prior to payment, submit to the Superintendent a voucher individually listing the expenses together with supporting evidence of the expenditure for which reimbursement is sought and the date and name of the Administrator granting approval for the expenses.
- 4. Any Administrator who used his/her own automobile for approved School business will be reimbursed for mileage at the IRS rate.

## <u>ARTICLE IX – BENEFITS</u>

## SECTION A - INSURANCE, HOSPITALIZATION BENEFITS, AND CREDIT UNION

- 1. a. The District agrees to pay seventy-seven (77) percent of the cost of a term life insurance policy. The death benefit of the policy will be an amount equal to the Administrator's current annual salary or fifty thousand (\$50,000) dollars, whichever is less.
  - b. The Regional School District will pay the following contributions in the years stated below for the cost of the Health Insurance Plan:
    - Effective July, 1, 2016, the District will pay sixty-nine (69) percent of the cost of the PPO Plan and seventy-four (74) percent of the cost of the HMO Plan.
    - The Administrator's share will be deducted from payroll checks for participating members upon—receipt of the proper authorization.
  - c. The Regional School District agrees to pay the following rates:
    - Seventy-two and a half (72.5) percent for the cost of the PPO and HMO Plan in effect for all currently retired professional staff members and for any future retiree, Provided (a) the latter has been employed by the Masconomet Regional School District and has at least ten (10) years of experience. "Years of experience" will be defined as the length of continuous

service in the District for which compensation, as defined by Appendix A is/was received. Unpaid leaves for approved study that is confirmed by a transcript of completed course work from an accredited university, teaching abroad, or participation in government service or national service organization such as Peace Corps and VISTA, will count as years of experience at Masconomet. Child-rearing and maternity/paternity leave taken prior to FY93 will count as years of service. Other unpaid leaves will neither accrue toward nor interrupt experience at Masconomet. All paid leaves will count as experience at Masconomet, and (b) have passed their 55th birthday.

- d. The Regional School District agrees to pay 70% of the cost of the Dental Plan offered by the District.
- 2. The District agrees to implement a Flexible Benefits Plan consistent with Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code to provide pre-tax computation of premium payments for qualified medical, dental and group life insurance, medical payment reimbursement, and for dependent care reimbursement. The details of the Flexible Benefits Plan will be provided to each employee in a Summary Plan Document.
- 3. The surviving spouse of a deceased employee, who at the time of death was enrolled in a medical plan as offered by the District either active or retired, is eligible for medical coverage based on the number of years of experience of the employee at the time of death as defined by Article IX, Section A, #1b:
  - a. less than ten (10) years experience, the spouse will be covered under his/her existing plan for five (5) years and then may continue under the HMO plan for three (3) additional years.
  - b. greater than or equal to ten (10) years experience, the spouse will be covered under his or her existing plan for five (5) years and then he/she will be covered under the HMO plan.
- 4. If the deceased were an active employee at the time of death, the District will pay a percent of its premium equal to what it would pay if the deceased was still living. On the sixty-fifth (65) birthday of the deceased, the percentages paid thereafter will be those normally paid for retirees.
- 5. Under these benefits, if the spouse dies or remarries or becomes eligible for other medical insurance benefits through employment or Medicare under any circumstances, the spousal benefit will cease.

## SECTION B - PAYROLL DEDUCTIONS

- 1. The District agrees to assume the clerical and accounting expense incurred by the Committee in making such deductions for credit union deposits.
- 2. The District agrees to extend to all members of the Association the privilege of participating in a "Tax-sheltered Annuity" plan
- 3. The District will provide payroll deductions as a service for a group accidental death and dismemberment insurance policy.

## <u>SECTION C – NOTIFICATION OF RESIGNATION OR RETIREMENT</u>

- 1. Members intending to resign or retire shall notify the Superintendent, in writing, at least four (4) weeks before said termination is to take effect.
- 2. End of Career Policy: Items 2 through 5 of this section that refer to the End-of-Career Bonus will only be applicable to those employed by this unit as of June 30, 2019 or any teacher who was employed as a teacher prior to September 1, 2005 and is promoted to this unit. To qualify for the provisions of the End of Career Policy, an Administrator must have completed ten (10) years of experience in the Masconomet Regional School District, has attained the age of fifty-five (55) years of age and/or otherwise qualifies for immediate payment of retirement benefits upon termination of employment, and will notify the

Superintendent no later than six months prior to his/her intended date of retirement of the last year of employment.

- 3. In the event of the death of an employee who is qualified to receive the End of Career Policy Benefit (with the exception of the written notification requirement), the benefit will be paid to the employee's declared beneficiary.
- 4. On the next July first (1st) following the Administrator's retirement, a sum of money equal to the product of one (1) percent, the number of years experience at Masconomet as defined in Article IX, Section A, #1c and the Administrator's final year salary, as determined by this Agreement, will be paid to the Administrator. The employee will repay all monies received pursuant to this policy should he/she not retire and not receive retirement benefits following his/her final year of employment.
- 5. If notification occurs during the month of January or after, payment may be deferred, at the discretion of the District, until July one (1) of the following calendar year.
- 6. Tax Sheltered Annuity: Effective July 1, 2019, the Committee will match up to \$600 of an individual employee's contribution to a 403(b) plan annually. The employer contribution match will be paid in two (2) payments one in November and one in May. The School Committee will not be responsible for any administrative costs charged by a third party for administering this benefit.

## SECTION D - EXTRA WORKDAYS

- 1. The per diem rate for compensation for each approved workday in excess of the contractual work period will be computed by dividing the stipulated annual salary by the number of days within the work year. The affected Administrator and Superintendent may mutually agree to compensatory time in lieu of the per diem pay.
- 2. The parties agree that members of the Association will receive per diem compensation for all days worked beyond the second day past the employee's contractual work year when such work is either requested or required by the employee's supervisor or higher administrative personnel or when the employee requests additional work days to accomplish work necessary for the school district and such request is approved by the Superintendent. It is agreed that employee requests for additional work days will not be unreasonably denied.

#### SECTION E -EVALUATION AND SUPERVISION

- 1. Administrators will supervise and evaluate teachers consistent with the procedures outlined in the Agreement negotiated between the District and the Teachers' Association. Administrators may conduct observations in excess of the minimum requirements of the Teacher Agreement if conditions warrant additional supervision and/or evaluation.
- 2. Evaluation: The parties agree to the Massachusetts evaluation model for all members of the Association. Any changes to the current instrument and system will be implemented by agreement of the parties after collaborative meetings between the Superintendent and the Association.
- 3. If vacancies occur during vacation periods, Administrators will recruit and recommend candidates to the Superintendent as part of their regular job requirements without compensation. It is understood, of course, that if the Administrator is engaged in vacation travel, he/she would not be available.

## SECTION F- PERSONNEL FILES AND COMPLAINTS

1. No information shall be placed in an Administrator's file without first giving the Administrator the opportunity to review the information and to determine whether or not to challenge the accuracy or veracity of such information. The files covered by this section shall be the official files in the Superintendent's office. The Administrator(s) supervising the Association member may maintain

informal files and information. However, none of the information in these informal files may be used as a basis of disciplinary or other adverse personnel action without reviewing the information with the Association member and providing that member with an opportunity to challenge the accuracy or veracity of such information, and to have his/her written response included in his/her official file.

2. The Committee agrees to refer all complaints concerning a member of the Association from any source to the Superintendent or his designee. The Superintendent will be charged with investigating the complaint. Should the Superintendent find the complaint to have merit, he/she will give the Administrator who is criticized an opportunity to respond to such complaints prior to taking any disciplinary action or reporting on the matter to the School Committee. This will not preclude informal conversations with other Administrators or School Committee members, as he/she deems appropriate.

## <u>ARTICLE X – RESERVATIONS</u>

- 1. If, through a determination of a court of law, a provision of this Agreement is deemed illegal and such judgment is or may not be further challenged, then such provision will be deemed enforceable only to the extent permitted by law.
- 2. At the request of either party, a substitute provision will be negotiated. The remainder of the Agreement will continue in full force and effect.

#### ARTICLE XI - MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

Executed in duplicate on this the 7<sup>th</sup> day of November 2018 by the Masconomet Regional District School Committee by its Chairman and other Members of the Masconomet Regional School Committee's Bargaining Team, and by the Masconomet Association of Professional School Administrators by its Executive Officer and Members of its Bargaining Committee.

This Agreement is to become effective on July 1, 2018 and will expire on June 30, 2019.

MASCONOMET REGIONAL DISTRICT SCHOOL COMMITTEE	MASCONOMET ASSOCIATION OF PROFESSIONAL SCHOOL ADMINISTRATORS
By: School Committee Chair	By:, Executive Officer
By:	By:Bargaining Member
School Committee Member	
By:	By:
School Committee Member	
	By:Bargaining Member

#### <u>APPENDIX A – SALARY SCALE</u>

Longevity will be defined as: Administrators with extended service at Masconomet will receive a sum of money, stipulated below, which will be added to their yearly salary. For purposes of this extended salary schedule, "years of experience: will mean years of continuous service at Masconomet in a teaching and/or administrative capacity. Unpaid leaves of absence will not interrupt "continuous service." All paid leaves and military leaves will count toward years of experience.

Administrators, employed as a member of this bargaining unit after June 30, 2016, will be placed on Salary Guide B.

# ADMINISTRATOR'S SALARY GUIDE A - GRANDFATHERED - PRE JUNE 30, 2016 UNIT MEMBERS

		<b>194 Day</b>	Work Ye	ar Scale			Extended Year (204 days) Scales								
FY20 - 2.5%	6 COLA					FY20 - 2.5% COLA									
Step	M	M+15	M+30	M+45	MM/Cags	Doc	FY17 Lo	ongevity	Step	$\mathbf{M}$	M+15	M+30	M+45	MM/Cags	Doc
1	\$100,029	\$101,229	\$102,427	\$103,626	\$106,171	\$110,398	7-10	\$1,891	1	\$105,186	\$106,447	\$107,706	\$108,967	\$111,643	\$116,088
2	\$103,222	\$104,420	\$105,619	\$106,816	\$109,364	\$113,588	11-19	\$2,268	2	\$108,543	\$109,801	\$111,063	\$112,323	\$115,001	\$119,444
3	\$106,414	\$107,614	\$108,810	\$110,010	\$112,556	\$116,782	20-25	\$2,647	3	\$111,898	\$113,161	\$114,420	\$115,681	\$118,358	\$122,803
4	\$109,640	\$110,839	\$112,035	\$113,235	\$115,781	\$120,007	26+	\$3,025	4	\$115,122	\$116,385	\$117,644	\$118,905	\$121,582	\$126,027
5	\$112,768	\$113,968	\$115,164	\$116,364	\$118,910	\$123,136			5	\$118,251	\$119,514	\$120,773	\$122,034	\$124,711	\$129,155
6	\$115.897	\$117,097	\$118.293	\$119,493	\$122,039	\$126,265			6	\$121,380	\$122,642	\$123,901	\$125,163	\$127.840	\$132,284

## ADMINISTRATOR'S SALARY GUIDE B - POST JUNE 30, 2016 UNIT MEMBERS

	194 Day	Work Ye	ear Scale				Extended Year (204 days) Scales						
FY20 - 2.59	% COLA						FY20 - 2.5%	COLA					
Step	M	M+30	MM/Cags	DOC			Step	$\mathbf{M}$	M+30	MM/Cags	DOC		
1	\$100,029	\$101,229	\$102,427	\$103,626	Longe	vity	1	\$105,186	\$106,447	\$107,706	\$108,967		
2	\$103,222	\$104,420	\$105,619	\$106,816	7-10	\$1,891	2	\$108,543	\$109,801	\$111,063	\$112,323		
3	\$106,414	\$107,614	\$108,810	\$110,010	11-19	\$2,268	3	\$111,898	\$113,161	\$114,420	\$115,681		
4	\$109,640	\$110,839	\$112,036	\$113,235	20-25	\$2,647	4	\$115,122	\$116,385	\$117,644	\$118,905		
5	\$112,768	\$113,968	\$115,164	\$116,364	26+	\$3,025	5	\$118,251	\$119,514	\$120,772	\$122,034		
6	\$115,897	\$117,097	\$118,293	\$119,492			6	\$121,380	\$122,642	\$123,902	\$125,163		

# ADMINISTRATOR'S SALARY GUIDE A - GRANDFATHERED - PRE JUNE 30, 2016 UNIT MEMBERS

194	Day	Work	Year	Scale
エノエ	Dav	110112	ıcaı	Deale

## Extended Year (204 days) Scales

FY21- 2.5%	COLA					FY21 - 2.5% COLA									
Step	M	M+15	M+30	M+45	MM/Cags	Doc	FY17 Lo	ongevity	Step	M	M+15	M+30	M+45	MM/Cags	Doc
1	\$102,530	\$103,760	\$104,988	\$106,216	\$108,825	\$113,158	7-10	\$1,891	1	\$107,816	\$109,109	\$110,399	\$111,691	\$114,434	\$118,990
2	\$105,802	\$107,031	\$108,259	\$109,486	\$112,098	\$116,428	11-19	\$2,268	2	\$111,257	\$112,546	\$113,839	\$115,131	\$117,876	\$122,430
3	\$109,075	\$110,304	\$111,530	\$112,760	\$115,370	\$119,702	20-25	\$2,647	3	\$114,695	\$115,990	\$117,280	\$118,573	\$121,317	\$125,873
4	\$112,380	\$113,610	\$114,836	\$116,066	\$118,676	\$123,007	26+	\$3,025	4	\$118,000	\$119,294	\$120,585	\$121,878	\$124,622	\$129,177
5	\$115,588	\$116,817	\$118,043	\$119,273	\$121,883	\$126,214			5	\$121,207	\$122,501	\$123,792	\$125,085	\$127,829	\$132,384
6	\$118,795	\$120,024	\$121,250	\$122,480	\$125,090	\$129,421			6	\$124,414	\$125,708	\$126,999	\$128,292	\$131,036	\$135,591

# ADMINISTRATOR'S SALARY GUIDE B - POST JUNE 30, 2016 UNIT MEMBERS

## 194 Day Work Year Scale

## Extended Year (204 days) Scales

		·								,		
F	Y21 - 2.5%	COLA						FY21 - 2.5%	COLA			
	Step	M	M+30	MM/Cags	DOC			Step	M	M+30	MM/Cags	DOC
	1	\$102,530	\$103,760	\$104,988	\$106,216	Longe	vity	1	\$107,816	\$109,109	\$110,399	\$111,691
	2	\$105,802	\$107,031	\$108,259	\$109,486	7-10	\$1,891	2	\$111,257	\$112,546	\$113,839	\$115,131
	3	\$109,075	\$110,304	\$111,530	\$112,760	11-19	\$2,268	3	\$114,695	\$115,990	\$117,280	\$118,573
	4	\$112,380	\$113,610	\$114,836	\$116,066	20-25	\$2,647	4	\$118,000	\$119,294	\$120,585	\$121,878
	5	\$115,588	\$116,817	\$118,043	\$119,273	26+	\$3,025	5	\$121,207	\$122,502	\$123,791	\$125,085
	6	\$118,795	\$120,024	\$121,251	\$122,480			6	\$124,414	\$125,708	\$127,000	\$128,292

## ADMINISTRATOR'S SALARY GUIDE A - GRANDFATHERED - PRE JUNE 30, 2016 UNIT MEMBERS

## 194 Day Work Year Scale

## Extended Year (204 days) Scales

FY22 - 2.5% COLA FY								FY22 - 2.5% COLA							
Step	M	M+15	M+30	M+45	MM/Cags	Doc	FY17 Lo	ongevity	Step	M	M+15	M+30	M+45	MM/Cags	Doc
1	\$105,093	\$106,354	\$107,613	\$108,872	\$111,546	\$115,987	7-10	\$1,891	1	\$110,511	\$111,836	\$113,159	\$114,483	\$117,295	\$121,965
2	\$108,447	\$109,707	\$110,966	\$112,224	\$114,900	\$119,339	11-19	\$2,268	2	\$114,038	\$115,360	\$116,685	\$118,009	\$120,823	\$125,491
3	\$111,802	\$113,062	\$114,319	\$115,579	\$118,255	\$122,694	20-25	\$2,647	3	\$117,563	\$118,889	\$120,212	\$121,538	\$124,350	\$129,019
4	\$115,190	\$116,450	\$117,707	\$118,967	\$121,643	\$126,082	26+	\$3,025	4	\$120,950	\$122,277	\$123,600	\$124,925	\$127,738	\$132,407
5	\$118,477	\$119,738	\$120,994	\$122,255	\$124,930	\$129,370			5	\$124,237	\$125,564	\$126,887	\$128,212	\$131,025	\$135,694
6	\$121,764	\$123,025	\$124,281	\$125,542	\$128,217	\$132,657			6	\$127,525	\$128,851	\$130,174	\$131,499	\$134,312	\$138,981

# ADMINISTRATOR'S SALARY GUIDE B - POST JUNE 30, 2016 UNIT MEMBERS

194 Day Work Year Scale Extended Year (204 days) Scales
---

FY22 - 2.5%	6 COLA				FY22 - 2.5% COLA									
Step	M	M+30	MM/Cags	DOC			Step	$\mathbf{M}$	M+30	MM/Cags	DOC			
1	\$105,093	\$106,354	\$107,613	\$108,872	Longe	vity	1	\$110,511	\$111,836	\$113,159	\$114,483			
2	\$108,447	\$109,707	\$110,966	\$112,224	7-10	\$1,891	2	\$114,038	\$115,360	\$116,685	\$118,009			
3	\$111,802	\$113,062	\$114,319	\$115,579	11-19	\$2,268	3	\$117,563	\$118,889	\$120,212	\$121,538			
4	\$115,190	\$116,450	\$117,707	\$118,967	20-25	\$2,647	4	\$120,950	\$122,276	\$123,600	\$124,925			
5	\$118,477	\$119,738	\$120,994	\$122,255	26+	\$3,025	5	\$124,237	\$125,564	\$126,886	\$128,212			
6	\$121,764	\$123,025	\$124,282	\$125,542			6	\$127,525	\$128,851	\$130,175	\$131,499			